FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/28/2020 4:44 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

Supreme Court No. 98990-7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COA No. 36393-7-III

BEVERLY SEVIGNY Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL G. SEVIGNY *Petitioner*.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Gregory M. Miller, WSBA No. 14459 Sidney C. Tribe, WSBA No. 33160

CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S. 701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600 Seattle, Washington 98104-7010 Telephone: (206) 622-8020 Facsimile: (206) 467-8215 *Attorneys for Petitioner Michael G. Sevigny*

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

APPE	NDIX A	Aii
TABL	E OF A	UTHORITIESiii
I.	IDENTITY OF PETITIONER & SUMMARY1	
II.	COURT OF APPEALS DECISION	
III.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW4	
IV.	V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE	
	A.	The Parties, The Marriage, February 1, 2013 Separation Date, And The Construction Company
	B.	Mike Created A New Business With His Son Matt In 2012, 16 th Ave. Properties, LLC. Beverly Was Not An Owner Or Operator of the LLC, Which Acquired Realty Long After the February 2013 Separation, Including Late 2014 And After
	C.	2018 Trial, Mike's Proposed Division Excluding Post-Separation Property And Trial Court Decision After Reconsideration
	D.	Beverly's Effort To Enforce The Transfer Payments in 2019 Demonstrating That The Property Division Was 78-22 In Her Favor, Not 60-40 As Trial Court Said It Intended
V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACC		JMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 12
	А.	Review Should Be Granted Per RAP 13.4(1),(2), & (4) To Address The Need To Structure Or Defer Large Transfer Payments An Obligated Spouse, Such As Mike, Otherwise Has No Ability To Pay For A Property Division To Be Tenable. Requiring Immediate Payment Which Can Only Be Done By Selling Assets That Had Been Awarded Reduces That Party's Net Share Of The Property Division

B.	Review Should Be Granted Per RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (4) Because The Decision Conflicts With Supreme Court and Published Court Of Appeals Decisions Including <i>Estate of Borghi</i> and RCW 26.16.140 As To The Presumption Attaching to Post- Separation Acquisitions. Review Can Clarify That That Since The Character Of Property Is Determined On The Date Of Acquisition, Post-Separation Property Is Presumed Separate Property And A Spouse Asserting It Is Community Has The Burden To Establish It Was Obtained By Community Resources Or Efforts Which Should Be Compensated
C.	Review Should Be Granted Per RAP 13.4(b)(4) To Address The Scope And Intent Of RCW 26.16.140 In Helping Divorcing Couples To Move On By Confirming That Their Future, Non-Marital Earnings And Accumulations Are Not At Risk Of Being Awarded To Their Former Spouse

Page

APPENDIX A

Page(s)

Opinion, entered June 16, 2020A-1 to A-21
Order Denying Motion to Publish, entered August 5, 2020 A-22
Court's Letter re Order to Deny Motion to Publish stands, dated August 26, 2020
Financial Declaration of Mike Sevigny, dated March 2, 2020
Financial Declaration of Beverly Sevigny, dated March 2, 2020A-46 to A-52
Bev's Response to Financial Declaration, dated March 9, 2020A-53 to A-64
Mike Sevigny Declaration Objecting to Beverly Sevigny Financial Declaration, dated March 9, 2020A-65 to A-71
Objection to Financial Declaration of Beverly Sevigny, dated March 9, 2020
Respondent's exhibits, Mike's proposed property division labeled RE 2.3

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases

Page(s)

Aetna Life Ins v. Bunt, 110 Wn.2d 368, 754 P.2d 993 (1988)......9 Berol v. Berol. 37 Wn.2d 380, 223 P.2d 1055 (1950)..... 16-17 Estate of Borghi, In re Marriage of Elam, In re Marriage of Griswold, 112 Wn.App. 333, 48 P.3d 1018 (2002)......8-10 In re Marriage of Harrington, 85 Wn.App. 613, 935 P.2d 1357 (1997)......9 In re Marriage of Pearson-Maines, 70 Wn.App. 860, 855 P.2d 1210 (1993)......9 In re Marriage of Schwartz, 192 Wn.App 180, 368 P.3d 173 (2016)..... 17 In re Marriage of Sedlock, 69 Wn.App. 484, 849 P.2d 1243 (1993).....16-17 In re Marriage of Short, Seizer v. Sessions, Tatham v. Rogers, 170 Wn.App. 76, 283 P.3d 583 (2012)..... 13 Watters v. Doud. 95 Wn.2d 835, 631 P.2d 369 (1981)..... 18

Page(s)

Statutes and Court Rules

RAP 13.4(1) 12, 14
RAP 13.4(2) 12, 14
RAP 13.4(4) 12, 14
RAP 13.4(b)(1) 14
RAP 13.4(b)(2) 14
RAP 13.4(b)(4) 14, 18
Code 1881 § 2413 19
RCW 26.09.080
RCW 26.16.140 14
RCW 26.16.010
RCW 26.16.020 14
RCW 26.16.030 14, 18
RCW 26.16.140 passim
RCW 26.16.190 8, 18
RCW 26.16.200 6, 8, 18

Other Authorities

James Musselman, "Rights of Creditors to Collect Marital	
Debts After Divorce In Community Property	
Jurisdictions," 39 PACE L. REV. 309, 333-34 (2018)	

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER & SUMMARY

Petitioner Michael Sevigny ("Mike"), appellant below, asks this Court to accept review of the divorce property division part of the Court of Appeals decision ("Decision") terminating review specified in Part II.

Mike's appeal challenged the mischaracterization and distribution of substantial post-separation real property acquired by Mike; the inequitable judgment requiring the immediate transfer payment of over \$707,000 rather than deferred payments; and the unreasonably high maintenance granted Respondent Beverly Sevigny ("Beverly"). The Court of Appeals gave Mike partial relief by vacating the maintenance award.

But in affirming the property division, the Decision flipped the separate property presumption of RCW 26.16.140 and sidestepped settled case law to uphold the characterization of Mike's post-separation real property as community property by putting the burden of proof on Mike to prove its separate character. It affirmed inclusion of \$341,332 of separate property as "community property" and affirmed the 60/40 split in favor of Beverly, \$1,280,396 to \$853,597. The trial court had also imposed very high maintenance of \$6,500 per month, despite the large amount of property distributed to Beverly and her income and living circumstances.

Because the largest assets were the construction business Mike began in 2007 and post-separation acquisitions by Mike's new properties business, both awarded to him, the trial court ordered a large equalization "transfer payment" of \$707,485. But it did not structure payment so it was feasible for Mike to pay within the context of the property division and the economic circumstances of the parties. It ordered immediate payment. Instead of a deferred payment plan letting Mike pay it off over several years from the income stream of the business, he was supposed to pay off the entire judgment immediately from no apparent payment source, while also was paying monthly maintenance of \$6,500. This was untenable.

Though the panel recognized part of the inequity and vacated the maintenance award, the Decision affirmed the characterization of post-separation property and the overall allocation that included Mike's post-separation property. When Beverly moved to have Mike pay the transfer amount in 2019, he could pay half only by selling assets awarded to him and giving that cash to Beverly. This changed the property division to a **78/22** split in favor of Beverly, not the 60/40 split the trial court ruled was fair and equitable. This is patently, substantively unfair. Much is due to ignoring RCW 26.16.140's presumption that post-separation property is separate property and including in the divisible estate a substantial portion of Mike's post-separation property, thus requiring a transfer payment.

Review of the property division is warranted because the decision conflicts with basic principle of community property law that the character of property is determined on the date of acquisition and the statutory directive that post-separation acquisitions are presumed separate property. If unchanged the final property division enriches Beverly beyond what even the trial judge thought was fair and just, contrary to settled law that the division be fair, just, and equitable to *both* parties, no matter how maintenance is addressed on remand. Review should be granted.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Decision was filed June 16, 2020, after granting reconsideration to modify footnote 9. App. A-1 to 21. Mike's timely motion to publish in part was finally disposed of on August 26, 2020, App. A-22-23. An extension was granted to September 28.

The Decision affirmed the property division and judgment embodying the \$707,000 transfer payment from Mike to Beverly. App. A-11-15. However, it reversed the maintenance award on the basis that "the record does not support a finding that he has the ability to pay both the \$707,000 judgment entered against him and this level of maintenance at the same time", citing the statutory provision requiring the trial court to consider not only the obligor spouse's ability to meet his own needs, "but also his ability to meet his other 'financial obligations' while paying spousal maintenance." Decision at App. A-17-18, citing RCW 26.09.090(1)(f). It held the trial court abused its discretion by its

...failure to give fair consideration to RCW 26.09.090(1)(f), or to make findings to support a determination that Michael can both service his debt to Beverly without a significant loss of income and afford to pay \$6,500 a month in maintenance...

Decision at 18, App. A-18.

The Decision got it half right by vacating the maintenance award and remanding to calculate an amount not only commensurate with the property she received but, more fundamentally, with Mike's ability to pay. Mike does not seek review of the Decision's ruling vacating the maintenance award.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Where one spouse is awarded the business that has funded the community and the other spouse is granted a large transfer payment the first spouse has no assets or loan avenues to pay, does the trial court abuse its discretion by making payment of the transfer immediate where, as here, the obligated spouse has to sell two properties nominally awarded to him to fund payment of half the transfer, and where, as here, this results in a 78/22 split of the divisible assets in favor of the receiving spouse, rather than the 60/40 split the trial court ruled was fair and equitable?
- 2. RCW 26.16.030 defines community property as property acquired after marriage by one or both of the spouses during the marriage. RCW 26.16.140 provides that post-separation earnings and accumulations are that spouse's separate property. Long-settled case law provides that the character of property is determined on its date of acquisition, *e.g., Estate of Borghi*, 167 Wn.2d 480, 484, 491, 219 P.3d. 932 (2009). Should review be granted to clarify that these principles mean a spouse cannot rely on a community property presumption to characterize property as community, including realty, when the date of acquisition is post-separation, but instead has the burden to establish by at least direct and positive evidence that such property was obtained with community resources or efforts which should be compensated?
- 3. Should review be granted where the Decision flipped the statutory presumption of RCW 26.16.140 that post-separation property is separate property and erroneously imposed the burden of showing the property's separate character by clear and convincing evidence on the spouse who acquired it after separation, contrary to the statute and settled law on establishing the character of property?
- 4. Should review be granted to give effect to RCW 26.16.140 and its intent to help separated couples re-establish themselves by confirming that post-separation property not acquired by community funds or from community efforts, cannot be "awarded" or allocated as part of the divisible estate, but can be considered for purposes dividing the separate and community divisible property that was acquired before or during the marriage, and in setting any maintenance or support award?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Parties, The Marriage, February 1, 2013 Separation Date, And The Construction Company.

Mike and Beverly were married in August 1979 (OB at 8),

separated in February, 2013. Both were 60 when trial was held in May,

2018, after which the court found:

The marital community ended on February 2013. <u>The parties</u> <u>stopped acquiring community property and incurring</u> <u>community debt on this date</u>.

CP 13, ¶5 (emphasis added).¹

During the 33-year marriage, Beverly first was a stay-at-home mother until their youngest reached first grade, then she went back to work part time teaching as a substitute, and later worked full time both as a paraprofessional in the classroom and as a secretary for the school district. Decision at 2. Mike worked in his father's construction company until 2007, when he opened his own company, M. Sevigny Construction, Inc., with his son Matt. *Id.*; OB at 5-6. As seen by the valuation of Mike's half of the company at \$775,000 (CP 52), it was successful. Company documents in the record show that Beverly was considered a joint owner, though she devoted 10 per cent of her time while they each devoted 100 per cent of their time to the company. *See* OB at 6; Ex. PE 1.22, pp. 7-8.

¹ This ruling was not appealed and is at the heart of Mike's appeal and this Petition because it is at odds with the trial court's ruling that the 16th Ave. Properties parcels acquired post-separation were community property, even though Beverly did not have an ownership or management interest in the company and Mike bore all the financial risk it entailed, as discussed *infra*.

B. Mike Created A New Business With His Son Matt In 2012, 16th Ave. Properties, LLC. Beverly Was Not An Owner Or Operator of the LLC, Which Acquired Realty Long After the February 2013 Separation, Including Late 2014 And After.

Mike testified to creation of the 16th Ave. Properties LLC (the "LLC") in 2012 with his son Matt. OB 7. The exhibits show that Beverly is not named as an owner of the LLC and only received income from it as an employee, as detailed in the Opening Brief. *See* OB at 7 (detailing the tax schedules covering the LLC); p. 12 fn. 4 (documenting Beverly was not at financial risk if the LLC failed, contrary to her lawyer's closing rebuttal argument, a bald assertion without foundation)²; Thus, Beverly's interest in the LLC's properties at the time of trial was through her community interest in Mike's share of that business, which he operated with Matt up to the time of separation. It was a purely financial interest via her marriage. That interest ended when they separated, as did Mike's interest in her school paychecks and new retirement contributions.

The exhibits demonstrate that the LLC was operating late in 2012 – the appraisal done for Beverly for trial notes the LLC acquired "Parcel 3" out of bankruptcy on "12/11/2012 for \$380,000. *See* Plaintiff's Exhibit

² Footnote 4 of the Opening Brief explained:

As pointed out *supra* p.7, Mike's exhibits, RE 2.9 & 2.21, and *Beverly's* exhibits PE 1.23 and 1.4 show that Beverly is *not* a member of the LLC, and thus would have no obligation for its debts other than by statutory community property liability. Rather, for the work done after separation she would bear no potential liability under RCW 26.16.140 for any debts Mike incurred individually or through the LLC, and thus was perfectly shielded from any risk. *See* RCW 26.16.200 (spouse not liable for debt incurred for post-separation debts.) Indeed, that was the original purpose of that statute when passed in 1881, by helping to put women and wives on more even footing with men than they were under the common law system.

("PE") 1.31, p. 5. ("Korn Appraisal"). On the same page the Korn Appraisal states that "Parcel 4" was "sold from Success Management LLC to 16th Ave Properties LLC <u>11/13/2014</u> for \$750,000. Property is presently listed for \$1,350,000." *Id.* (emphasis added). Parcel 4 was acquired over a year and nine months after Mike and Beverly separated.³

Assuming the first three parcels mentioned by the Decision are presumed to be community because they were acquired before separation, they totaled \$1,352,654, only 17 per cent of the total value given by Korn of \$7,990,500. See 1.31, p. 4; CP 50 (trial court's letter decision listing properties and values given by Korn). Since the parcels in the Korn Appraisal apparently are numbered in the order they were acquired given the dates for Parcels 1, 3 and 4, then per the Korn Appraisal, some \$6,400,000 of the appraised value of the LLC was from post-separation properties acquired in December, 2014 or later. Each of those properties should get RCW 26.16.140's separate property presumption based on date of acquisition alone, which Beverly would have to challenge with "clear and direct" evidence to have treated as community. Even assuming the first four parcels are presumed to be community, the last three – and the most valuable – should have been presumed separate under the statute and *Borghi* based on their dates of acquisition. It would be up to Beverly to show by clear and direct evidence otherwise.

³ The Decision notes only the "Parcel 3" and the original parcel and commercial building on the date of formation at 1212 N 16th Avenue, but does not mention the post-separation Parcel 4 referenced in the Korn Appraisal. *See* Decision at 5-6. It thus did not address how Parcel 4 is characterized given its acquisition date.

C. 2018 Trial, Mike's Proposed Division Excluding Post-Separation Property And Trial Court Decision After Reconsideration.

Mike's OB summarized his position at trial, which the trial court

did not follow, and argued it in detail at OB 26-29.

Mike's counsel argued application of both RCW 26.16.140 and *In re Marriage of Griswold* for why the post-separation property acquired by 16th Avenue Properties that Mike owned and operated should be allocated to him, because where the post-separation business increases in value or loss due primarily to the efforts of the managing spouse, that spouse bears the gain or the loss. RP 217-18. That also is consistent with RCW 26.16.190, which protects the non-involved spouse from injurious acts of the other spouse including post-separate debts of the other spouse. As a high-risk venture, Beverly was protected from the losses that could occur to 16th Avenue Properties should there be a failure in the real estate market, as there was in 2008-2012. Thus he summarized that:

....under our proposal, she gets \$786,855.00 of virtually zero risk, properties and investment. Almost \$250,000 of that is liquid. He gets [\$]523,000 of business related assets so he can continue to try to make a living and under our proposal there are five more years of maintenance at [\$]2,500 and hopefully someday retire.

RP 218. The proposal, 60/40 in favor of Beverly, did not require a transfer payment.

OB at 13-14. Mike submitted his proposal as exhibit RE 2.3, App. A-80-82 hereto. By proposing Beverly get virtually all the liquid assets, the family home, and the North Fork cabin, the split was 60/40 in her favor and no transfer payment was required. His figures at RE 2.3 show a total estate (after deducting the home mortgage debt) of \$1,309,902 and he proposed that Beverly receive \$786,855 and Mike get \$523,047, a 60/40 split that did not require a transfer payment.

In contrast, Beverly's counsel did not suggest tracing to determine what portion of the LLC's properties acquired post-separation was the result of community funds or efforts to provide the basis for a lien in favor of the community. Beverly's approach was that everything in the LLC was community, no matter if acquired after separation. Enticingly easy, it is at odds with Washington law on determining the character of, or imposing a community lien on separate property and post-separation earnings and accumulations, whether for separate real property improved during the marriage,⁴ or stock options,⁵ for other property interests including insurance⁶ and lottery winnings,⁷ or for post-separation bonuses based in part on work performed during the marriage.⁸ Because of its error in not giving effect to the presumption flowing from RCW 26.16.140 that property acquired post-separation is separate property to affirm the

⁴ E.g., In re Marriage of Elam, 97Wn.2d 811, 816-17, 650 P.2d 213 (1982 (separate real property improved during the marriage); In re Marriage of Pearson-Maines, 70 Wn.App. 860, 868-870, 855 P.2d 1210 (1993) (real property during marriage).

⁵ E.g., In re Marriage of Short, 125 Wn.2d 865, 873, 890 P.2d 12 (1995) (stock options were part separate based on post-separation vesting dates, *reversing* Court of Appeals decision holding then entirely community); In re Marriage of Harrington, 85 Wn.App. 613, 625-29, 935 P.2d 1357 (1997) (citing and applying Short).

⁶ *E.g.*, *Aetna Life Ins v. Bunt*, 110 Wn.2d 368, 372-74, 754 P.2d 993 (1988) (applying RCW 26.16.140 and the defunct nature of the marriage to *reverse* the appellate decision awarding the "surviving spouse" half the insurance proceeds; community funds were not used to pay the final premium when the marriage was defunct). "It is the fact of the community that gives rise to the community property statute; when there is no 'community', there can be no community property." *Id.* at 372.

⁷ See Seizer v. Sessions, 132 Wn.2d 642, 649, 653-54, 657-58, 940 P.2d 261 (1997) (applying the statute, *Bunt*, and *Short* to reverse and remand for consideration of whether the marriage was defunct and, if not, whether the ticket was purchased with separate or community property).

⁸ E.g., In re Marriage of Griswold, 112 Wn.App. 333, 48 P.3d 1018 (2002), argued at OB 26-29 and Reply Brief at 3.

trial court's property division, the Decision sidestepped Mike's arguments at OB 26-35⁹ and conflicts with each of those cases cited *supra*.

After trial the court included all the LLC's properties as community property to be divided between the parties, with Mike's interest a net value of \$341,332 (spreadsheet, CP 52, line CA-5), divided what it determined were \$2.1 million in net community property assets 60/40 in favor of Beverly (which the Decision notes was the split Mike suggested, Decision at 3), and ordered \$6,500/month maintenance for ten years until Beverly was 70. What the Decision does not note, however, was that Mike's suggested split was predicated on much lower maintenance of \$2,500/month for five years and a smaller divisible estate, since he asked that the 60/40 split apply to the community property and presumed that, per the statute, all post-separation property was separate and would remain with the person holding it, much like their personal bank accounts holding their earnings from post-separation work.

On this record and presentation, there was no need for Mike's counsel to argue a structured payment scheme, His proposal was based on the actual divisible property of the parties from the marriage, much lower maintenance, and suggesting a 60-40 split so that no transfer payment was needed. Moreover, Beverly's counsel offered no authority for the

⁹ The argument heading for § IV.C. was: "Even Assuming *Arguendo* That The Post-Separation Property Acquired By 16th Avenue Properties Is Community Property, The Trial Court Erred Under *Marriage of Griswold* and RCW 26.16.140 By Failing To Credit Mike With The Post-Separation Increase In Value Of That Asset Which Was Solely Under His Operation And Control And The Increase Was Due Solely To His And His Business Partner's Efforts.

dramatic change to community property law of effectively nullifying RCW 26.16.140. Each party presented their proposal. Neither argued how the other's different approach should be modified, whether by a deferred or structured payment plan or a different split, or a more detailed calculation of community or separate interests in the LLC's properties. After the trial court chose an approach, the only recourse was appeal.

D. Beverly's Effort To Enforce The Transfer Payments in 2019 Demonstrating That The Property Division Was 78-22 In Her Favor, Not 60-40 As Trial Court Said It Intended.

The parties' financial declarations and objections filed in the Court of Appeals (*infra* at App. A-24-79) show clearly the problem created by the property division and with requiring an immediate transfer payment which Beverly could enforce, and which she moved to do in the summer of 2019 while the appeal was pending. *See* App A-49 ¶ 5 (Beverly recounting filing a motion to enforce the transfer payment, receiving a total of \$379,546 from Mike).

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