FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/29/2020 4:09 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 98990-7

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Marriage of:

BEVERLY SEVIGNY,

Respondent,

v.

MICHAEL G. SEVIGNY,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

By: Catherine W. Smith WSBA No. 9542 Jonathan B. Collins WSBA No. 48807

1619 8th Avenue North Seattle, WA 98109 (206) 624-0974

Attorneys for Respondent

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

III. Argument why review should be denied.

A. Petitioner's failure as a matter of fact to prove that properties acquired after separation by the community business were his separate property does not warrant further review.

Petitioner's contention that the Court of Appeals failed to apply the "straightforward approach to characterizing property" required by RCW 26.16.140, that "property acquired after separation is it is [sic] presumed to be the separate property of the separated spouse acquiring it" (Pet. 14-15) is wrong both as a matter of law and fact. First, RCW 26.16.140 says nothing about the date of acquisition of property, or its consequence to the division of property under RCW 26.09.080. It only provides that "[w]hen spouses or domestic partners are living separate and apart, their respective earnings and accumulations shall be the separate property of each." RCW 26.16.140. Second, the husband did not acquire *any* of the properties at issue here. The LLC that he conceded was community in nature acquired the properties. The properties at issue were not petitioner's personal "earnings and accumulations" under RCW 26.16.140, and the husband presented no evidence that the properties were acquired with his post-separation "earnings and accumulations." (RP 189; Op. App. A 9)

When the marital community has an interest in a business, the value of that interest rises and falls with the business even after separation. "[S]ince the legal status remains, the management is presumptively on behalf of the community, and the burden is upon the person who says it is not to prove this fact by clear and convincing evidence." 19 Scott J. Horenstein, *Washington Practice, Family and Community Property Law* § 12:18 (2nd ed. 2015), citing *Dizard & Getty v. Damson*, 63 Wn.2d 526, 530-31, 387 P.2d 964 (1964). See also Marriage of Sedlock, 69 Wn. App. 484, 509, 849 P.2d 1243, *rev. denied*, 122 Wn. 2d 1014 (1993) (post-separation increase or decrease in a property's value is shared by the community unless a party can trace separate contributions by clear and convincing evidence).

Consistent with this rule that the manager spouse of a community business has the burden of rebutting the presumption that actions taken on behalf of the business were not for the community benefit, the spouse controlling an asset that he alleges is separate property bears the burden of proving his claim. For that reason, the *Sedlock* court rejected the husband's claim that a condo he had purchased after separation was his separate property, because he failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that he had made the down payment from post-separation earnings. 69 Wn. App. at 509.

The husband here likewise had the burden of proving he acquired properties after separation with separate property. And although he was the only one with access to this information, he utterly failed to produce any evidence, much less prove by clear and convincing evidence that properties acquired by the community business after separation could be traced to his separate earnings or accumulations. (Op. App. A 9) "When a party fails to produce relevant evidence within its control, without satisfactory explanation, the inference is that such evidence would be unfavorable to the nonproducing party." See Lynott v. Nat'l Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, Pa., 123 Wn.2d 678, 689, 871 P.2d 146 (1994) (citing Pier 67, Inc. v. King County, 89 Wn.2d 379, 385-86, 573 P.2d 2 (1977)).

Petitioner claims the Court of Appeals misapplied Berol v. Berol, 37 Wn.2d 380, 223 P.2d 1055 (1950), asserting that Berol has nothing to do with the "presumption that post-separation property is separate." (Pet. 17) But the Court of Appeals did not rely on Berol to support its conclusion that the properties at issue here are community property; rather, the Court of Appeals explained that because the LLC was a community asset—as the husband admitted he was required under *Berol* to present "clear and satisfactory evidence" showing that that "funds used" to acquire the properties in the community LLC could "be traced with some degree of particularity" to the husband's separate funds, and that a "selfserving declaration . . . claiming the property" as his own fails that burden. (Op. App. A 8, quoting Berol, 37 Wn.2d at 382.) Indeed, later courts have relied on *Berol* for the same proposition. See, e.g., Sedlock, 69 Wn. App. at 509. The Court of Appeals' decision is wholly consistent with Berol.

Further, the evidence petitioner *did* submit at trial fully supported the trial court's findings. Corporate income tax returns for the community business proved that the properties belonged to the business, and not to him. (Resp. Ex. 2.9, 2.21) The husband admitted at trial that the LLC was a community business and that the wife's ownership interest was equal to his own. (RP 189; Op. App. A 6) At least two of the properties at issue were obtained using corporate (and thus community) credit. (Resp. Ex. 2.22) When asked to produce any evidence that he had contributed separate earnings or accumulations to the acquisition of these properties, the husband claimed that such evidence existed, but failed to produce it. (RP 189; Op. App. A 10) And contrary to his claims, during separation "both [parties] treated the LLC as a community asset and the income generated from properties the LLC purchased both before and after separation as community income," noting that the parties filed "joint tax returns declaring income from the LLC as community income." (Op. App. A 9; Pet. Ex. 1.25, 1.26, 1.27, 1.28)

All property in the marital estate, community or separate, is available for distribution upon dissolution (not separation) under RCW 26.09.080. There is no need for "clarification" of RCW 26.16.140 because "breakups are hard," or because this Court should soothe "the newly-single in [their] time of distress" by clarifying the statute and thereby "put[ting] their future financial life out of reach of the old relationship." (Pet. 18-19) If petitioner wants to take the "first step to finality and moving on" (Pet. 19), he should satisfy the trial court's equalizing judgment rather than waxing poetic on meritless statutory interpretations of the parties' burdens of proof in characterizing property subject to distribution on dissolution.

The Court of Appeals properly recognized that petitioner failed "to establish that he used separate funds to acquire any of the properties the LLC purchased after separation." (Op. App A 9) Recognition of this fact-based failure of proof in an unpublished opinion does not warrant further review in this Court. Thus, the Court need not accept review of this unpublished opinion to "address the scope and intent of RCW 26.16.140 in helping divorcing couples to move on" (Pet. 18), as RCW 26.09.080, not RCW 26.16.140, governs the division of the marital estate at dissolution.

B. The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion conflicts with neither *Borghi* nor any other authority.

Petitioner contends the Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion conflicts with *Estate of Borghi*, 167 Wn.2d 480, 219 P.3d 932 (2009), but provides little analysis other than to suggest the Court of Appeals failed to follow *Borghi* because the case requires that the characterization of property be "determined on the date of acquisition." (Pet. 18) The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion conflicts with neither *Borghi* nor any other authority.

Borghi centered on a dispute over the characterization of real property after a spouse had died intestate. There was no dispute that the house was the wife's separate property when she acquired it nine years before marriage, and that it remained her separate property when she married the husband. *Borghi*, 167 Wn.2d at 484. After the wife died intestate, however, the husband argued that the wife had given the property to the community because she included his name on the fulfillment deed when the contract on the property was paid off. This Court disagreed, holding the mere presence of the husband's name on the deed was not enough to overcome the presumption that the property remained the wife's separate property. *Borghi*, 167 Wn.2d at 490.

Like RCW 26.16.140, *Borghi* is irrelevant to the trial court's authority to "make disposition of the property and the liabilities of the parties, either community or separate," in a dissolution proceeding under RCW 26.09.080. To the extent *Borghi* sheds any light on the characterization of property, it is the logical inverse of

13

this case. Just as the husband in *Borghi* failed to show that the wife's separate property became a community asset because she included his name on the fulfillment deed, the husband here failed to show that properties acquired by a community business after separation were his separate property.

The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion also does not conflict with any of the other cases petitioner footnotes, with no analysis, in arguing for further review. (Pet. 9, n.4-8) For instance, the issue was whether the community had an interest in a house that the wife had purchased *before* marriage—an unambiguously separate asset— in both *Elam v. Elam*, 97 Wn.2d 811, 816, 650 P.2d 213 (1982) (distinguished at Op. App. A 10-11) and *Marriage of Pearson-Maines*, 70 Wn. App. 860, 865, 855 P.2d 1210 (1993) ("In the instant case, the [property] was undisputedly Ms. Pearson-Maines' separate property at acquisition because it was purchased prior to cohabitation and marriage from her separate funds.") (both cases cited Pet. 9, n.4). *Elam* in particular only supports the proposition that any post-separation increase in the value of the community businesses was presumptively community property.

Similarly irrelevant are, for example, *Marriage of Short*, 125 Wn.2d 865, 869-70, 890 P.2d 12 (1995) (Pet. 9, n.5), where the

14

question was whether stock options acquired during marriage but vested after separation compensated the husband for community or separate efforts, and *Marriage of Griswold*, 112 Wn. App. 333, 339-41, 48 P.3d 1018 (2002) (Pet. 9, n.8), *rev. denied*, 148 Wn.2d 1023 (2003), which relied on *Short* in addressing the same issue. *See also Marriage of Harrington*, 85 Wn. App. 613, 625-26, 935 P.2d 1357 (1997) (applying *Short*) (Pet. 9, n.5). The analyses of these cases have no application here, where no stock options are at issue, and the petitioner presented *no* evidence that he contributed post-separation funds to the LLC's property acquisitions. The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion conflicts with neither *Borghi* nor any of the other decisions in petitioner's string cites, and does not warrant further review.

C. The property division is not inequitable because the equalizing judgment was partially satisfied when petitioner sold property.

Petitioner also asks this Court to take review because he claims it required him to sell property to partially satisfy the equalizing judgment. (Pet. 12-14) Leaving aside that the judgment was only partially satisfied, over the husband's objections, when real properties under his control were sold, this argument again seeks to relitigate factual issues that the trial court had broad discretion to resolve and that the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed in its unpublished decision.

Petitioner's claim that the trial court's 60/40 distribution resulted in a 78/22 or 82/18 distribution (Pet. 12-14) is mathematical nonsense. The trial court relied on substantial evidence to determine the value of the parties' assets, divided those assets, and then calculated the offsetting payment owed to ensure a 60/40 distribution. (Op. App. A 11-15) An offsetting payment presumes that one party will transfer assets in some form to the other party; that does not alter the overall proportion of assets distributed to the parties. And in this case, the husband indisputably still retains the community's most valuable, income-producing properties. There was absolutely no proof what income any of these properties provided to the husband only because the husband refused to reveal that information at trial. (RP 189; Op. App. A 9) In any event, one of the properties sold was a vacation cabin that generated no income, and the husband's most recent financial declaration shows that even after (involuntarily) partially satisfying the equalizing judgment he is still making *more* money than the trial court estimated he would. (Compare App. A 31 with CP 50; App. A 26)

Petitioner cannot withhold financial information at trial and then seek review on the grounds that the trial court abused its discretion when it divided the parties' property based on the evidence it had. To the extent the husband disputes the property distribution based on his ability to pay, the Court of Appeals' unchallenged remand of the maintenance award with specific instructions to consider maintenance "in light of the monetary judgment Michael owes Beverly and his ability to simultaneously pay off that judgment" (Op. App. A 19) fully satisfies his (unwarranted) concerns.

The trial court has broad discretion to determine a fair and equitable distribution of property, which will not be disturbed absent a showing that the trial court manifestly abused its discretion. *Brewer v. Brewer*, 137 Wn.2d 756, 769, 976 P.2d 102 (1999). The trial court is not required to divide property equally, particularly after a long-term marriage. *Marriage of Rockwell*, 141 Wn. App. 235, 243, 170 P.3d 572 (2007), *rev. denied*, 163 Wn.2d 1055 (2008). The Court of Appeals' unpublished opinion affirming the property distribution does not conflict with any Washington authority and does not warrant further review.

IV. Conclusion.

The petition for review should be denied.